I. INTRODUCTION

In her deposition, WSDOT Secretary Paula Hammond admitted

that she terminated a 25 -year State employee, Margarita Mendoza de

Sugiyama, in part because she complained " outside the agency" regarding

sexual harassment, hostile work environment, and violation of federal

regulations. Yet, the Superior Court granted suniauaiy judgment in favor

of WSDOT on all of Mendoza de Sugiyama' s claims under the

Washington Law Against Discrimination and the State Employee

Whistleblower Protection Act. The judgment should be reversed. 

Plaintiff Margarita Mendoza de Sugiyama built a successful, long- 

term career working for the State of Washington for almost 30 years. She

was passionate about her work on diversity issues, including addressing

internal civil rights complaints for WSDOT by managing its affirmative

action, disability accommodation, and other non - discrimination programs. 

She worked to resolve internal conflicts before they escalated and valued

the independence of the WSDOT Internal Civil Rights Branch of the

Office of Equal Opportunity, where she worked. 

As with any oversight entity, the ICRB' s success depended on its

independence. Indeed, during the 1990s WSDOT removed the ICRB out

from under the control of WSDOT Human Resources due to actual and

potential conflicts of interest. 
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Then, in August 2009, not long after becoming WSDOT' s Chief of

Staff, Steve Reinmuth sought to end the ICRB' s independence. Mendoza

de Sugiyama and her direct supervisor believed that the proposed move

was in violation of federal regulations. After repeatedly complaining

internally, Mendoza de Sugiyama wrote a letter to Governor Gregoire, 

copying Attorney General McKenna, expressing her belief that the

proposed move was against federal regulations. She also complained to

the Governor and the Attorney General that ICRB would be under HR

Director Kermit Wooden, who had subjected her and other women to

differential treatment because of sex, and had fostered a gender -based

hostile work environment. When the governor' s office did not respond

favorably, Mendoza de Sugiyama directed her concerns to the Federal

Highway Administration. She needed help. 

Shortly thereafter, Reinmuth began investigating her for alleged

retaliation against a disabled subordinate. After an internal investigation

conducted at Reinmuth' s behest, Secretary Hammond terminated

Mendoza de Sugiyama on September 24, 2010 —on Reinmuth' s

recommendation. Yet two weeks before terminating the Appellant, 

Reinmuth and Hammond received a memorandum from three female HR

managers complaining of harassment by Wooden. Two weeks after

Mendoza de Sugiyama' s termination, Hammond fired Wooden. 
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The trial court committed numerous errors in granting summary

judgment for the State on all of Mendoza de Sugiyama' s Washington Law

Against Discrimination and State Employee Whistleblower Protection Act

claims. The trial court applied incorrect legal standards to her hostile

work environment and whistleblower retaliation claims, improperly

weighed the evidence on summary judgment, and found that Mendoza de

Sugiyama' s whistleblower complaints were " without merit," rather than

applying a " good faith" standard. The trial court also improperly found

that Mendoza de Sugiyama needed to show direct evidence of gender and

race discrimination in order to prevail at summary judgment. What' s

more, the trial court denied Mendoza de Sugiyama access to emails sent

between key witnesses in the case — evidence that would likely have

precluded summary judgment even under the court' s own flawed analysis. 

This Court must correct these errors on appeal and reverse the trial court

on all grounds. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

A. Assignments of Error

1. The trial court erred in granting the State' s motion for
summary judgment when it dismissed Plaintiff' s whistleblower
retaliation claims, her gender and race discrimination claims, 
her hostile work environment claims, and her WLAD
retaliation claims, despite compelling direct and circumstantial
evidence supporting Plaintiffs claims. ( CP 1532 -36, 1583 -85). 

2. The trial court abused its discretion when it denied Mendoza de
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Sugiyama' s motion to compel the production of electronically

stored information (" EST") in the form of emails to and from

twelve key individuals, finding that the requests were overly
broad and unduly burdensome, even though the State' s CR
30( b)( 6) designee testified that she had already identified the
responsive emails and all that was needed to be done was a
privilege review. ( CP 397 -98). 

B. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Whether the trial court erred in granting the State' s motion for
summary judgment, and in denying Mendoza de Sugiyama' s
motion for reconsideration, when it dismissed her
whistleblower retaliation claims, her gender and race

discrimination claims, her hostile work environment claims, 

and her WLAD retaliation claims? 

a. Whether the trial court erred in finding that the State' s
investigation could overcome Mendoza de Sugiyama' s

evidence at summary judgment when the so- called
independent" investigator relied on information from the

biased supervisors and subordinate? 

b. Whether the trial court erred in finding on summary
judgment that Plaintiff, should be held to a higher
procedural standard than other whistleblowers, and should

have understood that her whistleblower complaints should

have been filed initially with the State Auditor' s Office, not
the Governor, Attorney General, or FHWA, because of her
own work? 

c. Whether the trial court erred in finding on summary
judgment that the substance ofPlaintiffs letters to the
governor and the FHWA did not meet the definition of a
whistleblower complaint of improper governmental action? 

d. Whether the trial court erred in determining that Mendoza
de Sugiyama' s whistleblower complaints were " without

merit" rather than using a " good faith" standard? 

e. Whether the trial court erred in finding that Plaintiff filed
her whistleblower complaint with the State Auditor' s
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Office after her termination when she filed her complaint
with the auditor on September 23, 2010 and her date of
termination was September 24, 2010? 

f Whether the trial court erred in finding that Plaintiff needed
to show direct evidence of discrimination in order to
establish her claims for gender and race discrimination
when she presented sufficient circumstantial evidence of

discrimination to raise a genuine issue of material fact? 

g. Whether the trial court erred in finding that Mendoza de
Sugiyama failed to establish her WLAD retaliation claim? 

h. Whether the trial court erred when it improperly struck
entire paragraphs of Plaintiffs own declaration, some of

which contained foundation for admission of exhibits? 

3. Whether the trial court abused its discretion when it denied
Plaintiffs motion to compel the production of emails to and

from twelve key individuals, finding that the requests were
overly broad and unduly burdensome, even though the State' s
CR 30( b)( 6) designee testified that she had already identified
the responsive emails and all that was needed to be done was a
privilege review? 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History

Margarita Mendoza de Sugiyama brought claim against her former

employer, WSDOT, for race /national origin and gender discrimination, 

hostile work environment, and retaliation in violation of the Washington

Law Against Discrimination, RCW 49. 60, et seq., and whistleblower

retaliation in violation of the State Employee Whistleblower Protection

Act, RCW 42. 40, et seq. CP 6. Prior to being terminated, Plaintiff had a

long and successful career working for the State of Washington in various
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capacities, most recently as the Diversity Programs Administrator for the

WSDOT' s Office of Equal Opportunity ( "OEO "). CP 13. 

In discovery, Mendoza de Sugiyama requested all documents, 

including emails, between or among specific witnesses and departments

related to the allegations in her complaint. CP 90 -94 ( Requests for

Production Nos. 29 -44). The State objected, so Plaintiff limited her

discovery requests to emails between twelve key individuals. CP 47 -48. 

The State claimed it was too costly to review the emails for privilege, and

that the requests, as narrowed, were still overly broad and unduly

burdensome. CP 23. Rather than narrowing the requests itself and

producing a smaller subset of documents, the State maintained that

appellant should be required to suggest key -word search terms. Id. After

motions practice, CP 23, 45, the trial court denied appellant' s discovery

requests for the emails, in their entirety. CP 395 -98, RP 4/ 27/ 12 at 1 - 39. 

Mendoza de Sugiyama then requested the same emails under the Public

Records .Act, RCW 42. 56, and the State sued her to prevent disclosure. 

See Court of Appeals, Case No. 43859 -3 - 1I. The very same trial judge

was assigned to the PRA litigation, and ordered disclosure of the emails

under the PRA. Id. Rather than disclose the emails, the State appealed

and the trial court granted a stipulated stay pending appeal and preventing
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disclosure. Id.1 The State then moved for summary judgment on all of

Plaintiffs claims. CP 402. After oral argument, CP 1532, RP 4/ 12/ 13 at

1 - 21, a newly- assigned judge dismissed all of Plaintiffs claims by letter

dated May 22, 2013 and order dated June 7, 2013. CP 1532, 1535. The

court also denied Plaintiff' s motion for reconsideration. CP 1537, CP

1583, RP 7/ 12/ 13 at 1 - 17. This timely appeal followed. 

B. Plaintiff is an Experienced Civil Rights Leader Who Received
Positive Evaluations and Was Never Disciplined Prior to Her
Termination

Mendoza de Sugiyama is a Mexican- American woman and

identifies as Latina. CP 1220. She has over 25 -years of service working

for various Washington State agencies. Id. Prior to working for WSDOT, 

she gained civil rights experience in the affirmative action, discrimination, 

and disability accommodation fields with the Office of Financial

Management, as the Governor' s Senior Executive Policy Coordinator for

Affirmative Action, and with the Department of Labor and Industries as

the Office of Human Resources' Diversity Program Manager. CP 1221. 

From 2000 -2003, Mendoza de Sugiyama worked for the Attorney

General' s Office as the Director of Consumer Services. Id. 

In June 2003, Mendoza de Sugiyama began working as the

Plaintiff moved to consolidate the PRA litigation with this appeal, but the Appeals
Court Commissioner denied that request. Mendoza de Sugiyama filed a motion to

modify the Commissioner' s ruling, but has yet to receive a ruling on that motion. On
December 6, 2013, oral argument was heard by this Court in Case No. 43859 -3 - 1I. 
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Diversity Programs Administrator for WSDOT' s Office of Equal

Opportunity ( "OEO "), reporting to OEO Director Brenda Nnambi. CP

1221. During that time, the OEO managed and monitored WSDOT' s

Equal Opportunity, Affirmative Action, Contract Compliance, and Non - 

Discrimination programs. Id. The OEO had two basic departments: ( 1) 

The External Civil Rights Branch ( "ECRB "), which handled issues

pertaining to non -WSDOT employees, and ( 2) the Internal Civil Rights

Branch ( "1CRB "), which handled WSDOT employee civil rights issues. 

Id. The OEO was its own independent department, separate from HR. Id. 

Plaintiff managed and supervised, statewide, the OEO ICRB

offices and staff located in WSDOT OEO headquarters, as well as regional

and Ferries; offices. CP 1221. She managed the WSDOT affirmative

action, equal opportunity, and diversity training programs affecting the

WSDOT workforce statewide, and provided executive -level consultation. 

Id. Between 2003 -2007, Plaintiff had seven direct reports and one indirect

report located throughout the state and managed them through regularly

scheduled in- person and phone meetings and quarterly office visits. Id. 

Prior to terminating her on September 24, 2010, WSDOT Director

Nnambi consistently ( for years) gave Mendoza de Sugiyarna positive

employee evaluations. CP 1412. Direct report Julie Lougheed described

the Plaintiff as a hardworking and extremely competent manager. CP 904- 
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07. Lough.eed observed Plaintiffs workload and noted it nearly always

exceeded that of her subordinates. Id. Plaintiff served as an inspiration to

her peers in the ECRB, including direct report Shawn Murinko, who later

claimed she retaliated against him. CP 915. 

C. The WSDOT OEO Organizational Structure was Historically
Discriminatory and Reorganized to be Independent from HR, 
But Reinmuth Reinstated the Discriminatory Structure, 
Consistent with His Discriminatory Intent

1. In 1991, WSDOT Reorganized to Make OEO a Director
Level Organization Reporting Directly to the Secretary
of WSDOT Due to a Discriminatory History

In 1991, a WSDOT consultant recommended reorganization of the

OEO office to combat discrimination: 

In view of the size and complexity of the Washington State
Department of Transportation and the negative perceptions

regarding the Department' s effectiveness and credibility in
equal employment and Affirmative Action, I recommend
that the proposed position of Equal Employment
Affirmative Action Officer report directly to the highest
level in the organization —the Secretary of Transportation. 

CP 1281. The recommendation was designed to implement a " culture

change." Id. The plan envisioned an internal and external office and a

director who would report to the WSDOT Secretary, and specifically

rejected the notion that HR would monitor the internal organization: 

The current plans propose having the Personnel Office
monitor these internal functions. In most organizational

systems, many of the discrimination complaints are lodged
against the Personnel system itself since, in many
organizations, there is the perception that the Personnel
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Office defends the organization rather than performs an

unbiased investigatory function. I recommend removing
the EEO /AA function from within the Personnel system so
that there will be neither a conflict of interest nor the
appearance of conflict of interest — almost an inevitability

when any Office is required to investigate itself. 

CP 1282. Plaintiff herself participated in the early days of the creation of

the modern OEO in her position as Policy Coordinator with Governor

Gardner' s Office of Financial Management. CP 1226 -27. 

2. WSDOT Chief of Staff Reinmuth Sought to Return to
the Days Where the OEO Was Controlled by HR

In 2005, WSDOT hired Steve Reinmuth as its Director of

Government Relations reporting to Paula Hammond, then Chief of Staff. 

CP 1056 -57. Reinmuth became Chief of Staff in 2007 when Hammond

became Secretary of WSDOT. Id. From the outset, Reinmuth wanted to

end OEO independence. In his view, ICRB ( Plaintiff' s internal OEO

group) was " notoriously insular in the way that they did their work." CP

1068. He claimed that " it became more and more apparent... that the

insulation around [ Plaintiff' s] work and her particular organization and

team was a liability and risk to the agency." CP 1069 -70. 

Around August 2009, Nnambi learned of Reinmuth' s plans to

move the :[CRB under the authority of the HR Office. CP 1224. In

December 2009, at the WSDOT Human Resources Managers meeting, HR

Director Kermit Wooden and HR Labor Relations Manager Jessica
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Todorovich announced that the OEO would move to HR. Id. Reinmuth

pitched the move to Wooden and Nnambi, stating in part: 

I believe that our current Human Resources Division is very
different from the Personnel Division from twenty years ago
that prompted the creation of the... current structure. 

The reports from twenty years ago show that there needed to be
a collaborative structure between HR and OEO. I don' t believe
that that collaboration exists currently and am counting on both
of you to improve the information shared on informal and
formal complaints, status of investigations, legal advice, 

training, etc. 

OEO staff need to move away from their perception that
IIR only acts for managers and does not address employee
civil rights concerns [ the same concern that motivated the
change in 1991]. 

Our current structure has posed the risk of legal liability for
WSDOT, due to poor communication and the unnecessary

sense of independence on internal civil rights matters. 

CP 649 ( emphasis added). Reinmuth made it clear that he did not want

OEO to be an independent investigative organization. See id. 

D. In 2009 and 2010, Plaintiff Openly Opposed the Proposed
Move of the Independent ICRB to HR and Filed Numerous
Whistleblower Complaints with State and Federal Agencies

Mendoza de Sugiyama opposed relocation of the ICRB from its

independent position, to Wooden' s HR organization, which reported to

Administrative Services Division Assistant Secretary Bill Ford. CP 1224. 

Plaintiff complained to OEO Director Nnambi that the proposed move of

OEO /ICRB would violate the Code of Federal Regulations applicable to

state transportation agencies, as well as the requirements of the Baseline

Assessment prepared by the Federal Highways Administration Office of
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Civil Rights. Id. Nnambi agreed and opposed the move for the same

reasons, that it was inconsistent with federal regulations, and in her words, 

was like the " fox guarding the hen house." CP 980 -81. Plaintiff also

objected because Wooden and Ford had engaged in sexual improprieties

with subordinate women, creating a sexually- hostile work environment for

Plaintiff and other women. CP 901, 1008, 1012, 1020, 1030, 1245. 

In January 2010, at the Northwest Region HR meeting, Wooden

announced that OEO Disability Program Manager /ADA Compliance

Officer Murinko would be transferring to Human Resources, and would

oversee the ECRB. CP 1224. Plaintiff opposed Murinko' s promotion

because he lacked the qualifications and experience to do the job. Id. She

also felt V looden' s actions constituted gross mismanagement and were

potential violations of federal laws and rules. Id. She began opposing and

reporting improper governmental actions to the superiors in her chain of

command., primarily through verbal complaints to OEO Director Nnambi. 

CP 1224 -25. Throughout January 2010, Plaintiff tried to work within her

chain of command to address these issues. Id. 

After making no progress using informal channels, Plaintiff wrote

a letter to Governor Gregoire on February 2, 2010 and copied Attorney

General McKenna, raising concerns about WSDOT' s decentralization of

the civil rights functions of the OEO and explaining that it was contrary to

12



the Code of Federal Regulations required of state transportation agencies

and the Federal Highways Administration Office of Civil Rights National

Baseline Assessment. CP 1225, 1245. Plaintiff outlined the national

standard and risks associated with not having an independent OEO office, 

and raised specific concerns about moving the OEO functions under the

supervision of HR in light of the record of sexual impropriety of Wooden

and Ford.2 Id. Finally, Plaintiff reported false accusations, hostility and

discrimination by Reinmuth, Wooden, and Murinko. Id. 

On March 25, 2010, Plaintiff reiterated her complaints by letter to

Governor Gregoire' s Chief of Staff about the OEO consolidation and

employment discrimination issues. CP 1228, 1365. 

When Governor Gregoire' s office failed to respond favorably, on

March 29, 2010, Plaintiff wrote to the Federal Highway Administration, 

submitting a Title VI complaint. CP 1229, 1368. She again stated that

WSDOT' s proposed plan would not comply with the federal regulatory

civil rights mandate for state transportation agencies, and reiterated her

concerns about Murinko' s lack of qualifications and limited practical

experience in external ADA issues. CP 1229. 

On September 23, 2010, just before her termination, Mendoza de

2 In separate incidents, subordinates brought sexual harassment lawsuits against Ford and
Wooden. Reinmuth testified WSDOT paid $ 100, 000 to settle Ford' s case, and Hammond
testified that Wooden was required to repay some of the attorney' s fees. CP 1040 -41, 
1146 -48. The State did not terminate or demote Ford or Wooden based on these
incidents. Id. 

13



Sugiyama filed a whistleblower complaint with the State Auditor' s Office

through the SAO website. CP 1161, 1230. She identified her letter to the

Governor, her letter to the FHWA, her SAO complaint, and one other

complaint in discovery responses. CP 1168 -69. 

E. Wooden and Reinmuth Created a Hostile Work Environment
Based on Appellant' s Race and Gender, and Discriminated
Against Her on the Basis of Race and Gender

Reinmuth and Murinko are Caucasian men. CP 1230. Nnambi is

an African- American woman. Id. Wooden is an African- American man, 

and Hammond and Todorovich are Caucasian women. Id. 

1. Wooden Frequently Spoke to Plaintiff in a Demeaning
Way, Unfairly Criticized Her Work, and Refused to
Meet with Her

Wooden frequently questioned the work of OEO, and the ICBR in

particular. CP 1230. After one of her very first interactions with Wooden

in 2003, Plaintiff verbally complained to Nnambi about his demeaning

treatment of her. Id. In 2008, Wooden criticized Plaintiff for her alleged

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