COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARGARITA MENDOZA de SUGIYAMA,

Appellant,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General BROOKE E. BURBANK RICHARD A. FRASER, III Assistant Attorneys General WSBA No. 26680 800 5th Avenue, Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104 (206) 464-7352

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard Of Review

This Court reviews summary judgment decisions de novo, engaging in the same inquiry as the trial court. Sheikh v. Choe, 156 Wn.2d 441, 447, 128 P.3d 574 (2006). The purpose of summary judgment is to avoid unnecessary trials. Young v. Key Pharms., Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 226, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). This Court may affirm a lower court's ruling on any grounds supported by the record. State v. Costich, 152 Wn.2d 463, 477, 98 P.3d 795 (2004). There is no exception to these standards for employment discrimination cases. While it has been stated that summary judgment is seldom appropriate in such cases, Riehl v. Foodmaker, Inc., 152 Wn.2d 138, 144, 94 P.3d 930 (2004) (citing deLisle v. FMC Corp., 57 Wn. App. 79, 84, 786 P.2d 839 (1990)), the authority that originally made that statement has since been abrogated. Torgerson v. City of Rochester, 643 F.3d 1031, 1043, 1060 (8th Cir. 2011) (abrogating Hillebrand v. M-Tron Indus., Inc., 827 F.2d 363, 364-65 (8th Cir. 1987) and holding that there "is no 'discrimination case exception' to the application of summary judgment, which is a useful pretrial tool to determine whether any case, including one alleging discrimination, merits a trial"). Thus, as this Court has stated, "courts 'should not treat discrimination differently from other ultimate issues of fact." Hill v. BCTI Income Fund-I, 144 Wn.2d 172,

185, 23 P.3d 440 (2001) (quoting Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Prods., Inc., 530 U.S. 133, 148, 120 S. Ct. 2097, 147 L. Ed. 2d 105 (2000)), overruled on other grounds by McClarty v. Totem Elec., 157 Wn.2d 214, 228, 137 P.3d 844 (2006).

As the party opposing summary judgment, Mendoza may not rely on "mere allegations or denials" set forth in pleadings, but rather "must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial." *Tiffany Family Trust Corp. v. City of Kent*, 155 Wn.2d 225, 328-29, 119 P.3d 325 (2005) (quoting CR 56(e)). "The 'facts' required by CR 56(e) are evidentiary in nature. Ultimate facts or conclusions of fact are insufficient. Likewise, conclusory statements of fact will not suffice." *Grimwood v. Puget Sound*, 110 Wn.2d 355, 359-60, 753 P.2d 517 (1988) (citations omitted).

Trial Court discovery rulings are reviewed for manifest abuse of discretion. *Cedell v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Washington*, 176 Wn.2d 686, 694, 295 P.3d 239 (2013). "We will reverse a trial court's discovery rulings only 'on a clear showing' that the court's exercise of discretion was manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons." *Id.*

B. The Trial Court Properly Found That Mendoza Failed To Establish A Prima Facie Case of Whistleblower Retaliation

Mendoza asserted a claim for whistleblower retaliation under RCW 42.40. The trial court did not err in finding that Mendoza failed to establish her prima facie case because she filed her whistleblower complaint *after* she had been terminated.

A 'whistleblower' is an employee who in good faith reports "alleged improper governmental action to the auditor or other public official, as defined in subsection (7) of this section, initiating an investigation by the auditor under RCW 42.40.040." RCW 42.40.020(10)(a)(i).² "Public official' means the attorney general's designee or designees; the director, or equivalent thereof in the agency where the employee works; an appropriate number of individuals designated to receive whistleblower reports by the head of each agency; or the executive ethics board." RCW 42.40.020(7).

To establish a prima facie case of whistleblower retaliation or discrimination, an employee must show that (1) she engaged in a statutorily protected activity, (2) her employer took an adverse

²A whistleblower is also defined as "[a]n employee who is perceived by the employer as reporting, whether they did or not, alleged improper governmental action to the auditor or other public official, as defined in subsection (7) of this section, initiating an investigation by the auditor under RCW 42.40.040[.]" RCW 42.40.020(10)(a)(ii)). Both definitions expressly require an investigation by the auditor.

employment action, and (3) the employee's activity caused the employer's adverse action. *See Milligan v. Thompson*, 110 Wn. App. 628, 638, 42 P.3d 418 (2002). If the employee establishes a prima facie case, the burden shifts to the employer to produce evidence of legitimate, non-retaliatory reasons for the employment action. *Keenan v. Allan*, 889 F. Supp. 1320, 1367 (E.D. Wash. 1995), *aff'd*, 91 F.3d 1275 (9th Cir. 1996); *Estevez v. Faculty Club*, 129 Wn. App. 774, 797–98, 120 P.3d 579 (2005). If the employer sets forth such reasons, the presumption of retaliation is rebutted. *Hill*, 144 Wn.2d at 182, *rev'd on other grounds by McClarty*, 157 Wn.2d 214.

The burden then shifts back to the employee to show that the proffered reasons are pre-textual or that the whistleblowing activity was a substantial motivating factor for the employer's action. *Keenan*, 889 F. Supp. at 1367; *Estevez*, 129 Wn. App. at 798. When the employee's evidence of pretext is weak or the employer's non-retaliatory evidence is strong, the employer is entitled to summary judgment. *Milligan*, 110 Wn. App. at 638–39.

1. Mendoza Did Not File A Complaint With The State Auditor Until After She Was Terminated

Mendoza identified a complaint she filed on September 24, 2010, online with the Washington State Auditor's Office (SAO) as her

"whistleblower complaint." CP at 856-57, 861. On September 10, 2010 she was informed of her termination and given an effective date of September 25, 2010. CP at 694-707. She filed the complaint one day before her final day of employment. CP at 848-51. There is no evidence in the record that she was subjected to any workplace reprisal or retaliatory action due to her complaint to the SAO during the one remaining day she worked at WSDOT. The trial court found that filing a whistleblower complaint after notification of the termination decision foreclosed the possibility of any whistleblower retaliatory motive for the termination decision. CP at 1532-33. While this finding is correct, and undisputed by the evidence, (notwithstanding Mendoza's argument that she was not terminated until her final day of work), Mendoza's whistleblower complaint fails on two additional grounds.

³ Mendoza has incorrectly stated in her declaration and in briefing that the date of her whistleblower complaint was September 23, 2010, and she was fired on September 24, 2010. CP at 1230; Br. Appellant at 5, 8, 13, 35-36. The record shows that the whistleblower complaint was filed on September 24, 2010. CP 848-49. Mendoza's last day at WSDOT was September 25, 2010, and she was given notice of her termination on September 10, 2010. CP 694. Mendoza acknowledged September 24th as the correct date in her deposition. CP at 556.

⁴ Despite this factual certainty, Mendoza argues that the trial court erred in finding that she filed her whistleblower complaint with the state auditor's office *after* her termination. "This finding is simply wrong. Mendoza de Sugiyama filed her whistleblower complaint with the auditor on September 23, 2010; WSDOT terminated her on September 24, 2010." Br. Appellant at 35-36. (*See also* Br. Appellant at 5, 8, 13-14.) The record shows Mendoza was notified that she was terminated both in a meeting with Hammond and in writing on September 10, 2010, with an effective termination date of September 25, 2010. CP at 694-708. Mendoza acknowledged being given notice on September 10th in her deposition. CP at 1525.

2. Mendoza's Complaint Covered Personnel Matters That Are Expressly Excluded In The Statutory Definition Of "Improper Governmental Action"

As a matter of law, Mendoza's claim also fails because she cannot show that she complained of activity that is covered by the whistleblower statute. Summary judgment on RCW 42.40 claims is appropriate when the claimant fails to meet the statutory definition of whistleblower. *Marable v. Nitchman*, No. 06-35940, 2007 WL 4561144 (9th Cir. Dec. 26, 2007). The whistleblower statute defines what constitutes "improper governmental action", and more relevantly, what it is not:

"Improper governmental action" means any action by an employee undertaken in the performance of the employee's official duties:

- (i) Which is a gross waste of public funds or resources as defined in this section;
- (ii) Which is in violation of federal or state law or rule, if the violation is not merely technical or of a minimum nature;
- (iii) Which is of substantial and specific danger to the public health or safety;
- (iv) Which is gross mismanagement; or
- (v) Which prevents the dissemination of scientific opinion or alters technical findings without scientifically valid justification.

RCW 42.40.020(6)(a).

"Improper governmental action" does not include personnel actions, for which other remedies exist, including but not limited to employee grievances, complaints, appointments, promotions, transfers,

⁵ Citation to unpublished federal opinions decided after January 1, 2007 is permitted by GR 14.1(b) and Fed. R. App. P. 32.1.

assignments, reassignments, reinstatements, restorations, reemployments, performance evaluations, reductions in pay, dismissals, suspensions, demotions, violations of the state civil service law, alleged labor agreement violations, reprimands, claims of discriminatory treatment, or any action which may be taken under chapter 41.06 RCW, or other disciplinary action except as provided in RCW 42.40.030.

RCW 42.40.020(6)(b) (emphasis added).

Mendoza's complaint to the SAO of "improper governmental action" was that WSDOT HR had spent considerable money on the remodel of Murinko's office in the HR department, and WSDOT had put Murinko, (an unqualified individual in her opinion), in charge of the external ADA matters. CP at 851. See also CP at 533-34. Mendoza's complaints about the remodel and Murinko's promotion are both exactly the type of personnel-related matters specifically excluded from the whistleblower statute. RCW 42.40.020(6)(b). The online complaint Mendoza submitted expressly informed her in the space she entered her complaint: "Please describe the Improper governmental action in detail.... Improper governmental action cannot be related to personnel matters." CP at 851 (emphasis in original). The SAO said exactly that in its response. CP at 853.

Mendoza's grievances over Shawn Murinko's promotion and the reasonable accommodation of moving him to a ground floor office so he

could safely evacuate in the event of an emergency do not qualify as "improper governmental action" as they are both personnel matters and outside the scope of protection afforded by RCW 42.40. The court correctly found her complaint failed to allege "improper governmental action" covered by the statute.

3. Mendoza Is Not A "Whistleblower" Because The State Auditor's Office Declined To Open An Investigation

Mendoza's activity in filing a complaint fails to satisfy the statutory definition of a "whistleblower," which requires evidence that the auditor initiate an investigation in response to the complaint. A whistleblower is as "[a]n employee who in good faith reports alleged improper governmental action ... initiating an investigation by the auditor under RCW 42.20.040." RCW 42.40.020(10)(a)(i). "Whistleblower" is also defined as "[a]n employee who is perceived by the employer as reporting, whether they did or not, alleged improper governmental action ... initiating an investigation by the auditor under RCW 42.40.040." RCW 42.40.020(10)(a)(ii) (emphasis added). Under either definition, an investigation by the auditor is a required element.

The Ninth Circuit has confirmed that an investigation by the auditor is a required element of any whistleblower complaint:

Moreover, neither of plaintiff's disclosures initiated or was in connection with an investigation by the auditor. Because plaintiff fails to present evidence on an essential element of his claim, namely that he qualifies as a "whistleblower," as to plaintiff's claim pursuant to RCW 49.60.210(2), the Court has granted defendants' motion for summary judgment and dismissed such claim with prejudice.

Chen v. City of Medina, No. C11-2119 TSZ, 2013 WL 392707, at 13 (W.D. Wash. 2013) (citing Marable v. Nitchman, 262 Fed. Appx. 17, 22 (9th Cir. 2007).

The undisputed evidence is that the SAO reviewed Mendoza's complaint and determined that it would not open an investigation of either issue. Mendoza was informed by letter that the SAO determined the complaint involved issues outside the scope and authority of the Whistleblower program. CP at 853. Mendoza failed to make a prima facie case that she was terminated as a result of her status as a "whistleblower".

The trial court correctly dismissed Mendoza's whistleblower claim for a number of reasons. First, she filed the complaint after she was terminated and thus she is not a whistleblower. Second, her complaint fell outside the scope of the whistleblower statute as she cited personnel issues that are expressly excluded by the statute. And third, her complaint did not result in an investigation by the SAO, an essential element for any claim under the statute. RCW 42.40.020(10)(a). Mendoza cannot show that she

⁶ See GR 14.1(b) and Fed. R. App. P. 32.1.

is a whistleblower and her claim fails on all three grounds, all of which are sufficient to uphold the dismissal of her case.

C. The Trial Court Correctly Determined That Mendoza's Letters To The Governor And FHWA Were Not Whistleblower Complaints

Mendoza's First Amended complaint alleges "whistleblower" retaliation in violation of RCW 42.40. CP at 13. In all of her discovery responses, declarations, and in her deposition, she asserted that her whistleblower complaint was the online claim she filed on September 24, 2010. CP at 556-60, 856-58, 1230. In her response to the State's First Interrogatories, where she listed her whistleblower complaint, she listed her letters to the Governor and the FHA, and specifically identified them as types of complaints other than whistleblower complaints. CP 856-57. In her response to WSDOT's motion for summary judgment for the first time she alleged her letters were also the basis of her whistleblower claim. CP at 839. Nonetheless, the court didn't rule against her on this basis; rather, the trial court correctly ruled that Mendoza's letters to the Governor and the FHWA did not allege improper government action as required under

⁷ Mendoza argues that the trial court improperly held her to her discovery answers and claims she only identified the online complaint to the auditor in her response to the State's request for that specific document. Br. Appellant at 36. This is only half of the truth. Previous to the State's request for production, Mendoza specifically identified her September 23 (sic) online complaint as her "whistleblower" complaint. CP at 856-57. The Request for Production R was asking for the document she had already identified as her whistleblower complaint. ("In your response to Interrogatory #17 . . . you specifically reference a September 23, 2011, "whistleblower" complaint.") CP at 861.

RCW 42.40. CP at 1533. This court should affirm that finding, and can also affirm on other grounds. As with her actual whistleblower complaint, the auditor did not open an investigation into her concerns and thus she cannot claim whistleblower status on that basis. *See* RCW 42.40.020(10)(a).

1. Mendoza's Letters Describe Personnel Matters Outside The Scope Of RCW 42.40⁸

court addressed her new argument and found her whistleblower claim legally failed, not because she knew how to correctly file one, but because she did not allege improper governmental action as required by statute. CP at 1533. Like her complaint to the auditor, they concerned personnel matters about Shawn Murinko, office reorganization, change in administrative reporting assignment, and questions by WSDOT personnel about her professionalism and quality of work. Mendoza did not agree with the proposed reorganization moving her department (ICRB) into HR. She did not like the promotion given to Shawn Murinko. Her complaints were not about "improper governmental actions" as a matter of law. "Improper governmental

⁸ Mendoza argues that the trial court improperly held her to a higher standard by noting that her job position and training required knowledge of the State Auditor's process. Br. Appellant at 32-33. Mendoza acknowledged in her deposition that she was well aware of WSDOT's internal "whistleblower" policy regarding filing a complaint with the internal designee or with the SAO. CP at 511-12. The court did not hold Mendoza to a higher standard, it merely responded to WSDOT's argument that Mendoza's job as the OEO Program Manager required her to know how to correctly file a complaint, which her testimony confirmed. Her argument that she intended these other letters to be whistleblower was not persuasive in the face of her deposition testimony.

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